
 
CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA                           CITY COUNCIL MEETING & 
 CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS                            PUBLIC HEARING AGENDA 

 

  

November 01, 2022  9:00 am 
  

1. Call to Order by Mayor Jonathan McCollar 
 

2. Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance by Councilmember Venus Mack  
 

3. Public Comments (Agenda Item): 
 

4. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 
A) Approval of Minutes 

a) 10-18-2022 Work Session Minutes 
b) 10-18-2022 Council Minutes 

B) Consideration of grant of license for the package sale of distilled spirits, beer, and 
wine to LA Boyz, LLC DBA Whiskey Business located at 1410 Northside Drive 
East. 

 
5. Second reading and consideration of a motion to approve Ordinance 2022-06: An 

Ordinance amending Article XXV-A of the City Code of Ordinances section 2506-A 
revising amount of amenity space required and the types of outdoor areas that qualify as 
such. 
 

6. Second reading and consideration of a motion to approve Ordinance 2022-07: An 
Ordinance amending Article XIV of Appendix A of City Code of Ordinances adding 
requirement of mixed use concurrency in Planned Unit Developments (PUD’s). 
 

7. Consideration of a motion to approve commitment of funding in the amount of $3250.00 
from the City of Statesboro to the Hi-Lo Trail organization for the development of a 
master plan of a bicycle trail from Athens to Savannah.    
 

8. Public Hearing & Consideration of a Motion to approve application for an alcohol license 
in accordance with The City of Statesboro alcohol ordinance Sec. 6-13 (a): 
     
      Jay Food Mart 
      500 E Main St 
      Statesboro, Ga 30458 
      License Type: Package Sales – Beer and Wine only 
 

9. Public Hearing and Consideration of a motion to approve the First Reading of  
Ordinance 2022-08: An Ordinance amending Chapter 2 of the Statesboro Code of 
Ordinances establishing the Statesboro Business Commission.  
 

10. Consideration of a motion to approve Resolution 2022-38: A Resolution authorizing the 
destruction of certain Municipal Records. 



 
 

11. Consideration of a motion to approve Resolution 2022-39: A resolution approving an 
application for the Governor’s Office of Planning and Budget Improving Neighborhood 
Outcomes in Disproportionately Impacted Communities Funding Grant Application. 
 

12. Consideration of a motion to accept the high bid from GT Distributors of Georgia for 
bloc of firearms to be sold as surplus. 
 

13. Consideration of a motion to approve a contract with 120Water in the amount of 
$32,882.00 to provide lead and copper water sampling services. 
 

14. Other Business from City Council 
 
15.  City Managers Comments 
 
16. Public Comments (General) 

 
17. Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matters” 

“Real Estate” and/or “Potential Litigation” in accordance with O.C.G.A 50-14-3(b) 
 

18. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 



 
 
  
 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO 
WORK SESSION MINUTES 

OCTOBER 18, 2022 

1 
 

 
Mayor & Council Work Session                    50 East Main Street                                                         4:00 PM 
 
A Work Session of the Statesboro City Council was held on October 18, 2022 at 4:00 p.m. in City Hall Council 
Chambers, 50 East Main Street. Present was Mayor Jonathan McCollar; Council Members: Phil Boyum, Paulette 
Chavers, Venus Mack, John Riggs, and Shari Barr. Also present was City Clerk Leah Harden, City Attorney Cain Smith, 
City Manager Charles Penny, Assistant City Manager Jason Boyles and Public Information Officer Layne Phillips. 
 
 

1. One Boro Report  
 
Stacey Smallwood Chairperson of the One Boro Commission presented to Mayor and Council what they have been 
doing over the past year. Since the passing of the Non-Discrimination ordinance there was one complaint filed, five hate 
crimes reported, and 22.25 % of city contracts went to MFBE’s. The Violence Prevention Task Force held a “securing 
Statesboro” forum on September 10, 2022 and Work Force Development has been working on opportunities for your 
people and returning citizens. Some recommendations from One Boro include increasing the visibility and promotion of 
the discrimination complaint form, increase promotion of the MFBE incentive structure, and accelerate the DEI training 
process, and expanding equity metrics across all departments.  
 

2. Presentation of Savvy Award  
 
Mayor and City Council had photos taken with Public Information Officer Layne Phillips and the Boro Bulletin 
Committee for receiving the 3CMA Savvy award.  
  

3. Creek on the Blue Mile Update 
 
Charles Crowell with Freese and Nichols gave a project update on the Creek on the Blue Mile. The items that have been 
completed to date include topographic and utility survey, concept design report, geotechnical investigation and first 
charrette for memorial park design. Mr. Crowell reviewed the flood control conditions, the creek channel and promenade 
that will run from the railroad embankment to South Main Street and then from South Main Street ending at South 
Zetterower Avenue. The creek channel from South Zetterower Avenue to Gentilly Road will consist of an embankment 
and water quality structures. Bridges will be constructed on South Main Street, Fair Road and South Zetterower Avenue. 
The upcoming activities for the project are to continue 30% design of attenuation reservoir, 30% level design of 
promenade and set R-O-W, addressing utility conflicts, start GDOT bridge design and USACE permitting process, and 
schedule the next Memorial Park design charrette. Design for this project began in April 2022 and a concept design 
report was submitted August 2022. A 30% design submittal is scheduled for November 2022, a 60% design submittal is 
scheduled for February 2023 and a 90% design submittal is scheduled for May 2023. Mr. Crowell also reviewed the 
probable construction costs that include general conditions $3,147,250, water and quality wetland system $743,635, 
promenade segments $3,236,080, bridge crossings $2,682,902, roadway approaches $3,318,570, crest gate detention 
structure $967,320, improvements to the east of S. Zetterower Ave. $1,809,700, north spur park channel design 
$1,069,595, existing channel abandonment $448,160, contingency at 20% $3,484,600, and inflation factor at 20% 
$3,484,600 for a total of $24,392,412. 
     
 
 



2 
 

4. Right Start Presentation  
 
Director of Planning and Development Kathy Field presented the Right Start meeting and process timelines. The purpose 
of Right Start is to allow developers opportunities to have their concept plans reviewed by departments and to provide 
feedback to developers before further investment is made by them. A meeting can be set up by contacting the Department 
of Planning and Development. Meetings must be scheduled by at least noon on the Monday prior to the meeting which 
is held every Thursday at 2:30 pm. Before the meeting the developer is required to submit documents showing the 
location/parcel information, a preliminary sketch, and the proposed use. The meeting consists of the developer, planning 
and Development, Public Works, Fire Department, and Public Utilities. The City Clerk and Police Department are 
informed of these meetings and projects as well. After the Right Start Meeting has taken place the applicant will receive 
a note sheet of all meeting items, a rebate package if natural gas is needed, a dumpster detail specifying build 
requirements, and any deliverables explicitly discussed at the meeting. Mrs. Fields reviewed the general timeline of a 
project beginning with a project consultation meeting and ending with permit issuance. If a project does not require a 
zoning variance or a change in zoning, a permit to begin a project can be issued in about 14 days depending on the 
applicant. If a zoning variance or zoning change is required the amount of time increases due to submission deadlines 
and Planning Commission meetings and could take up to 60 days depending the applicants’ submission of items.    
 

5. Virtual Fire Permit Process Presentation 
 
Prevention Chief Stephan Hutchins presented the virtual fire inspection program overview and process. The program is 
voluntary that has no cost to the customer, it is quicker than in person inspections and has a no cast re-inspection. The 
program can be used on a variety of platforms such as FaceTime, zoom, meets, etc. Virtual inspections are a cheaper 
and safer option for the Fire Department as well as increases effectiveness and efficiency. The total number of inspections 
done from 2020 – 2022 was 4852 and 1227 re-inspections. The average time spent on a first time inspection is 11 minutes 
and 39 seconds for re-inspections it is 6 minutes and 7 seconds. Virtual re-inspections will recover an estimated 125 
hours of time.  This program does not replace in person inspections. This program will be used for re-inspections not 
initial inspections.  
  

6. Business Commission  
 
City Attorney Cain Smith presented an overview of what a Business Commission would look like for the City of 
Statesboro. The commission would consist of seven members for a two year term, their purpose would be to inform the 
governing body on policy matters related to the impact of local ordinances and procedures on business opportunities and 
operations within the city.  
There was council discussion regarding the purpose of the commission is for business owners the opportunity in the city 
to give input regarding processes or procedures that impact their business. It will give the city an opportunity to hear 
input on how to make our services more business friendly. It was also discussed to stagger the terms of the members and 
to require anyone one interested in serving on the commission need to be authorized representatives of an entity holding 
an occupational tax certificate with the City of Statesboro.   
Direction was given to have City Attorney Cain Smith to draft the language for the Business Commission and to have 
the first reading at the November 1st meeting.  

 
7. Healthy Boro Commission 

 
This item will be addressed at later date.  
 
The meeting was adjourned at 5:24 pm.  

 
_______________________________ 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
 

_______________________________ 
Leah Harden, City Clerk 



 
 
  
 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO 
COUNCIL MINUTES 
OCTOBER 18, 2022 

1 
 

 
Regular Meeting                         50 E. Main St. City Hall Council Chambers                                      5:30 PM 
 

1. Call to Order 
Mayor Jonathan McCollar called the meeting to order  

 
2. Invocation and Pledge 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers gave the Invocation and led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
ATTENDENCE  

Attendee Name Title Status Arrived 
Jonathan McCollar Mayor Present   
Phil Boyum Councilmember Present    
Paulette Chavers Councilmember Present  
Venus Mack Councilmember Present  
John Riggs Councilmember Present   
Shari Barr Mayor Pro Tem  Present  

 
Other staff present: City Manager Charles Penny, Assistant City Manager Jason Boyles, Public Information Officer 
Layne Phillips, City Attorney Cain Smith and City Clerk Leah Harden 

 
3. Recognitions/Public Presentations: 

A) Presentation of a Key to the City to First Baptist Church of Statesboro for 140 years of 
ministry in our community.  

Mayor Jonathan McCollar presented a key to the City to the First Baptist Church of Statesboro recognizing them for 
their 140 years of ministry. 

B) Presentation of an award to retiring Water and Sewer Crew Leader, Jimmy Murray for 
his 21 years of service to the City of Statesboro. 

Mayor Jonathan McCollar recognized Water and Sewer Crew Leader, Jimmy Murray for his 21 years of service to the 
City of Statesboro and presented him with a retirement award.  

C) Presentation of a 3CMA Savvy Award to Public Information Officer Layne Phillips for the 
City’s employee newsletter the ‘Boro Bulletin.  

Mayor Jonathan McCollar recognized Public Information Officer, Layne Phillips and presented the Savvy award she 
received from 3CMA for the ‘Boro Bulletin.   

D) Presentation of a Proclamation to Safe Haven recognizing October as Domestic Violence 
Awareness Month.  

Mayor Jonathan McCollar read and presented a Proclamation to Kim Billings with Safe Haven, recognizing October 
2022 as Domestic Violence Awareness Month.  

 
4. Public Comments (Agenda Item):  None 

 
 
 
 



2 
 

5. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 
A) Approval of Minutes 

a) 10-04-2022 Council Minutes 
 

A motion was made to approve the consent agenda.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
 

6. Public Hearing and Consideration of a motion to approve application for an alcohol license in 
accordance with the City of Statesboro alcohol ordinance Sec. 6-13 (a): 

Family Dollar #20383 
2538 Northside Dr W 
Statesboro, Ga 30458 
License Type: Package Sales – Beer and Wine Only 
  

A Motion was made to open the public hearing.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
No one spoke for or against the request.  
 
A Motion was made to close the public hearing.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Councilmember John Riggs 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember John Riggs  

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 



 

3 
 

A Motion was made to approve the application for an alcohol license in accordance with the City of Statesboro alcohol 
ordinance Sec. 6-13 (a) to Family Dollar #20383 located at 2538 Northside Dr. W Statesboro, Ga 30458 License Type: 
Package Sales – Beer and Wine Only. 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 

7. Public Hearing and Consideration of a motion to approve Application RZ 22-09-02: Jarret 
Walden requests a Zoning Map Amendment from the R-15 (Single-Family Residential) zoning 
district to the O (Office) zoning district to expand the existing dental office on 0.24 acres of 
property located at 703 East Grady Street.  

 
A motion was made to open the public hearing.     
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
Jerret Walden spoke in favor of the request. 
 
No one spoke against the request.  
 
A Motion was made to close the public hearing.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Councilmember John Riggs 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 



4 
 

A Motion was made to approve Application RZ 22-09-02: a Zoning Map Amendment from the R-15 (Single-Family 
Residential) zoning district to the O (Office) zoning district to expand the existing dental office on 0.24 acres of property 
located at 703 East Grady Street. 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 

8. Public Hearing and Consideration of a motion to approve: 
 
A) Application AN 22-09-03: The Parker Companies request Annexation of the three 

properties totaling 3.8 acres in order to construct a Parker’s Kitchen located on the 
intersection of Burhalter and Highway 67, commonly known as 17241 GA Highway 67.  

B) Application RZ 22-09-04: The Parker Companies requests a Zoning Map Amendment 
from the R-40 (Single-Family Residential) zoning district to the HOC (Highway Oriented 
Commercial) zoning district in order to construct a Parker’s Kitchen located on the 3.8 
acres of property at the intersection of Burkhalter and Highway 67, commonly known as 
17241 GA Highway 67. 

 
A motion was made to open the public hearing.     
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
Brian Clouser a representative for Parker Companies spoke in favor of both requests.  
No one spoke against the requests.  
 
A Motion was made to close the public hearing.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember  Venus Mack 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Councilmember John Riggs  

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack  

Councilmember John Riggs 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 



 

5 
 

Councilmember Phil Boyum asked what kind of impact from a traffic standpoint going to be on this intersection. The 
city currently has one corner of this intersection with this annexation we will be on the other side of the road as well so 
what responsibility would the City have for improvements of this intersection?  
 
 
Mr. Penny stated that before any project could be done the developers will have to conduct a traffic impact analysis. So 
any improvements that need to be made should be part of their development costs. Mr. Penny also stated that we are 
behind as in road improvements and infrastructure and it’s something that we need to be in serious consultation and 
conversation with the county.   
  
 
A Motion was made to approve application AN 22-09-03: Annexation of the three properties totaling 3.8 acres in order 
to construct a Parker’s Kitchen located on the intersection of Burhalter and Highway 67, commonly known as 17241 
GA Highway 67. 
 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
 
A Motion was made to approve application RZ 22-09-04: a Zoning Map Amendment from the R-40 (Single-Family 
Residential) zoning district to the HOC (Highway Oriented Commercial) zoning district in order to construct a Parker’s 
Kitchen located on the 3.8 acres of property at the intersection of Burkhalter and Highway 67, commonly known as 
17241 GA Highway 67. 
 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 

Councilmember John Riggs 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 



6 
 

 
9. Public Hearing and Consideration of a motion to approve the first reading of Ordinance 2022-

06: An Ordinance amending Article XXV-A of the City Code of Ordinances Section 2506-A 
revising amount of amenity space required and the types of outdoor areas that qualify as such. 

 
A motion was made to open the public hearing.     
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
No one spoke for or against the request.  
 
 
A Motion was made to close the public hearing.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
 
A Motion was made to approve the first reading of Ordinance 2022-06: An Ordinance amending Article XXV-A of the 
City Code of Ordinances Section 2506-A revising amount of amenity space required and the types of outdoor areas that 
qualify as such. 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack  

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr  

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember John Riggs 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 



 

7 
 

10. Public Hearing and Consideration of a motion to approve the first reading of Ordinance 2022-
07: An Ordinance amending Article XIV of Appendix A of City Code of Ordinances adding 
requirement of mixed use concurrency in Planned Unit Developments (PUD’s). 

 
 
A motion was made to open the public hearing.    
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
 
No one spoke for or against the request.  
 
A Motion was made to close the public hearing.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
 
A Motion was made to approve the first reading of Ordinance 2022-07: An Ordinance amending Article XIV of 
Appendix A of City Code of Ordinances adding requirement of mixed use concurrency in Planned Unit Developments 
(PUD’s). 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
 
 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Councilmember John Riggs  

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 



8 
 

11. Other Business from City Council: None 
 

12. City Managers Comments 
City Manager Charles Penny stated that Mary Charles Howard with the Hi-Lo Trial Organization is requesting funding 
from the City in the amount of $3250.00 for the development of a master plan for the trail. The trail will be a connective 
trail from Athens to Savannah and is routed through eight counties. Ms. Charles is soliciting $15,000 from each county 
along the route to help create the master plan. So far in Bulloch County she has received commitments of $7500 from 
Morris Bank for the Bulloch County Board of Commissioners, $1650 from the Development Authority of Bulloch 
County and $1650 from the Statesboro Convention and Visitors Bureau, she is seeking the remaining $3250 from the 
City of Statesboro.  Mr. Penny stated that the city does not have this money set aside and will need a vote of approval in 
order to participate.  
 
Councilmember Phil Boyum stated he would like to know how many cities along the route have donated.  
This item will be placed on the next council agenda for consideration.   
 
Benji from the Bulloch County Development Authority sent out an email about the Hyundai community celebration next 
Tuesday. If you haven’t RSVP’d and would like to attend let us know and we can assist you in that.  
 
City Manager Charles Penny stated that at the last work session there was a safety audit presentation for Fair Road and 
Northside Drive. GDOT is looking for some concurrent from the city and if we don’t respond to GDOT with 
authorization they will move on and we will miss out on the project improvements.  We are asking for approval to 
authorize the Mayor to sign a letter saying that we concur with the improvements and that we will include funding in 
our CIP to take care of that right turn lane for both projects. 
 
A motion was made to authorize the Mayor to sign a letter of approval of the GDOT road audits for Fair Road and 
Northside Drive and to add funding in the CIP for a right turn lane on both projects.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
Mr. Penny announced that a joint work session with the Bulloch County Commissioners will take place on November 
29, 2022 at 3:30 pm. The work session is to discuss infrastructure.  
 

13. Public Comments (General):  
Blake Robinson from Civic Engagement stated they are trying to become more of a voter friendly campus through the 
voter-friendly campus initiative. As well as invited Mayor and Council to come join in watching the debate on October 
30th from 6 pm – 9pm in the Russell Union Building on campus and to attend an election night watch party in the IT 
building on campus November 8th from 6pm – 9pm. 
 
Councilmember Venus Mack encouraged all students to get out and vote.  
 
 

14. Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matters” Real 
Estate” and/or “Potential Litigation” in accordance with O.C.G.A. 50-14-3(b). 

 
No Executive session was held.  

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 



 

9 
 

 
15. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 

 
A motion was made to adjourn.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 6:38 pm 
 
  

_______________________________ 
Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 

 
_______________________________ 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember John Riggs 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 



 

 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Venus Mack, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

 
 
 
 
To: City Manager Charles Penny & City Clerk Leah Harden 
 
From: Tax Department 
 
Date: 10/26/2022 
 
RE: Whiskey Business 
 
Policy Issue: Consideration of grant of license for the package sale of distilled spirits, beer, and wine to 
Whiskey Business located at 1410 Northside Dr E in accordance with City Ordinance 6-23(h). 
 
Background: Location reservation was granted on May 3, 2022. Certificate of occupancy and occupational 
tax certificate have been issued for subject property. Mayor and Council may approve final grant of license 
by consent agenda without need for public hearing pursuant to City Ordinance 6-23(h). 
 
Recommendation: Planning & Development, Fire Department, Police Department, and Legal 
recommended approval 
 
Budget Impact: None 
 
Council Person & District: Phil Boyum, District 1 
 
Attachments: Occupational Tax Certificate & Department Approvals 





Whiskey Business
1410 Northside Dr E
Statesboro, Ga 30458

Please enter your recommendations and comments with your full name.

Business License Review

Department Full Name    Recommendation                               Comments

Planning &
Development

Elizabeth
Burns

Approve

Fire Department Justin
Taylor

Approve

Building
Inspector

Steve
Welborn

Approve

Building Permit Elizabeth
Burns

Approve



 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum 
Paulette Chavers 
Venus Mack 
John C. Riggs 
Shari Barr 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To: Charles Penny, City Manager and Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 
From: Kathy Field, Director of Planning & Development 
 
Date: October 25, 2022 
 
RE: November 1, 2022 City Council Agenda Items 
 
Policy Issue: Second Reading and consideration of amendment to Appendix A 
of City Code of Ordinances section 2506-A revising amount of amenity space 
required and the types of outdoor areas that qualify as such. 
 
Recommendation: Approve 
 
Background: At September 20, 2022, work session Mayor and Council directed 
that proposed ordinance revision be presented to Planning Commission for 
review. Planning Commission reviewed amendment proposal on October 4, 
2022 and voted unanimously in favor of amendment. Mayor and Council 
approved First Reading on October 18, 2022. 
 
Budget Impact: N/A 
 
Council Person and District: All 
 
Attachments: Proposed Ordinance revision 



Ordinance 2022-06: 

Section 2506-A Open Space – Original Language 

 

At least 5% of the site acreage, calculated based on the total lot area before development, must be 
dedicated as amenity space. Amenity space is defined as any at-grade outdoor area of at least 100 
square feet intended for use by the residents of the development and their guests, but not for the 
exclusive use of an individual dwelling unit. Amenity space specifically excludes required sidewalks, 
stream buffers, zoning buffers, stormwater facilities, and natural water bodies. Amenity space may 
include, but is not limited to, the following spaces: playgrounds, pool areas, tennis courts, basketball 
courts, other sports courts, community lawns, community gardens, hardscape areas improved for 
pedestrian enjoyment, and wooded areas. 

 

Sec. 2506-A. OPEN Amenity Space- Proposed Amendment 

For developments equal to or exceeding 5.0 acres at least 10% of the site acreage, calculated based on 
the total lot area before development, must be dedicated as amenity space. For developments smaller 
than 5.0 acres at least 5% of site acreage must be dedicated as amenity space. Amenity space is defined 
as any at-grade outdoor area of at least 100 square feet intended for use by the residents of the 
development and their guests, but not for the exclusive use of an individual dwelling unit. Amenity 
space specifically excludes required sidewalks, stream buffers, zoning buffers, stormwater facilities, and 
natural water bodies. Amenity space may include, but is not limited to, the following spaces: 
playgrounds, pool areas, tennis courts, basketball courts, other sports courts, community lawns, 
community gardens, hardscape areas improved for pedestrian enjoyment, splash pads, walking trails, 
dog parks, and wooded areas. 



 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum 
Paulette Chavers 
Venus Mack 
John C. Riggs 
Shari Barr 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To: Charles Penny, City Manager and Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 
From: Kathy Field, Director of Planning & Development 
 
Date: October 25, 2022 
 
RE: November1, 2022 City Council Agenda Items 
 
Policy Issue: Second reading and consideration of amendment to Article XIV of 
Appendix A of City Code of Ordinances adding requirement of mixed use 
concurrency in Planned Unit Developments (PUDs). 
 
Recommendation: Approve 
 
Background: At September 20, 2022, work session Mayor and Council directed 
that proposed ordinance revision be presented to Planning Commission for 
review. Planning Commission reviewed amendment proposal on October 4, 
2022 and voted unanimously in favor of amendment. Mayor and Council 
approved First Reading on October 18, 2022 
 
Budget Impact: N/A 
 
Council Person and District: All 
 
Attachments: Proposed Ordinance revision 



Ordinance 2022-07 

Section 1404 –Mixed Use Concurrency Requirements 

A.      At least 20% of the total gross floor area of the completed PUD development shall be 
devoted to residential uses and at least 20% of the total gross floor area of the completed PUD 
development shall be devoted to non-residential uses. 

B.      No more than 75 residential units shall be issued a certificate of occupancy in a PUD 
development until such time as at least 20,000 gross square feet of non-residential floor area has 
been issued a certificate of occupancy.  Any mixed-use concurrency requirements beyond the 
first 75 residential units may be required by conditional zoning. 

C.      No certificate(s) of occupancy shall be issued for more than 100,000 gross square feet of 
non-residential floor area in a PUD development until such time as a certificate of occupancy has 
been issued for at least 20 residential units. Any mixed-use concurrency requirements beyond the 
first 100,000 gross square feet may be required by conditional zoning. 

 



 

 

   CITY OF STATESBORO 

    50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
     STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Venus Mack, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To:   Charles Penny, City Manager 
 
From:  Jason Boyles, Assistant City Manager 
 
Date:  October 13, 2022 
 
RE:  HiLo Trail Funding 
 
 
Mary Charles Howard with the Hi-Lo Trail is requesting $3250 in funding from the City of 
Statesboro toward the development of a master plan for the trail. The Hi-Lo Trail organization is 
a grassroots initiative to identify and develop a bicycle trail from Athens to Savannah which will 
be routed through 8 counties along the proposed route, which includes Bulloch County. She has 
been soliciting $15,000 in funds from each county along the proposed route to help create the 
$120,000 master plan for the trail. 
 
The total cost for each county’s share is $15,000. She states she has received a commitment of 
$7,500 from Morris Bank for the Bulloch County Board of Commissioners 50% share, $1,650 
from the Development Authority of Bulloch County, and $1,650 from the Statesboro Convention 
and Visitors Bureau. She is seeking the remaining $3,250 from the City of Statesboro. 
 
Please advise if this project is something the City is interested in contributing toward. 



 
 
From: Georgia Hi-Lo Trail <hello@georgiahilo.com> 
Date: Tue, Oct 11, 2022 at 12:55 PM 
Subject: Re: Request for Funding from the Georgia Hi-Lo Trail 
To: Becky Davis <becky@visitstatesboro.org>, Jason Boyles 
<JASON.BOYLES@statesboroga.gov> 
 
 
Becky and Jason, 
 
I just got the great news from Benjy Thompson that the Development Authority of Bulloch 
County approved half of the funding. Is it possible to ask your board to approve the other half , 
as explained in the email above? Could this be approved before the Athens to Savannah Ride? 
That way we have y'alls commitment and can announce that before the riders depart on 
Sunday, October 23?  
 
Mary Charles Howard 
 
706-338-8054 
Executive Director, Georgia Hi-Lo Trail, Inc. 
TRAIL:    GeorgiaHiLo.com 
RIDE:      Athens to Savannah 
KIDS:       Kids Bike League 
 
 
 
On Wed, Oct 5, 2022 at 11:53 AM Georgia Hi-Lo Trail <hello@georgiahilo.com> wrote: 
Becky and Jason, 
 
Please see attached a request letter from the Georgia Hi-Lo Trail for funding of the Georgia Hi-
Lo Trail's Comprehensive Master Plan.  
 
This is a time-sensitive request, as the Athens to Savannah Ride is coming through Statesboro 
on October 22 & 23 for our annual Athens to Savannah Ride. We would like this year at our 
grand send-off the morning of Sunday, October 23 at the Statesboro CVB to be able to 
have a BIG ANNOUNCEMENT with press there that we have commitment for Hi-Lo Trail 
master plan funding in full for Bulloch County made possible by investment from the 
Statesboro CVB,  the Development Authority of Bulloch County, the the City of 
Statesboro and Morris Bank (our private donor who has dedicated $7500 to make the 
planning of the Bulloch County portion of the Hi-Lo Trail).  
 
Thank you for your continued support. I hope we can make this happen for the betterment of 
Statesboro and Bulloch County.  
 
Best, 
Mary Charles 
Mary Charles Howard 
 
706-338-8054 
Executive Director, Georgia Hi-Lo Trail, Inc. 
TRAIL:    GeorgiaHiLo.com 
RIDE:      AthenstoSavannah.com 
WATCH: Athens to Savannah Movie 
KIDS:       Kids Bike League 
 

mailto:hello@georgiahilo.com
mailto:becky@visitstatesboro.org
mailto:JASON.BOYLES@statesboroga.gov
http://georgiahilo.com/
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Lmlh-FuzvGE
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=DEJdHbF8OsA&feature=youtu.be
mailto:hello@georgiahilo.com
http://georgiahilo.com/
https://georgiahilo.com/athens-to-savannah-ride
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=L710o77JX1M
https://georgiahilo.com/kids


 

 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Venus Mack, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

 
 
 
 
To: City Manager Charles Penny & City Clerk Leah Harden 
 
From: Tax Department 
 
Date: 10/24/2022 
 
RE: Patel Statesboro LLC DBA Jay Food Mart 
 
Policy Issue: Alcohol License Approval 
 
Recommendation:  
Consideration of a Motion to approve application for an alcohol license classified as Package Sales (Beer 
& Wine) & Sunday Sales in accordance with The City of Statesboro alcohol ordinance Sec. 6-13 (a) to be 
issued to Patel Statesboro LLC DBA Jay Food Mart located at 500 E Main St. 
 
Background:  
Jay Food Mart convenience store located at 500 E Main St has undergone a change in ownership. This 
change requires the new owner to apply for a new alcohol license and get approval in accordance with 
City of Statesboro Alcohol Ordinance Chapter 6-13 (a): 
 
No new alcoholic beverage license to sell, dispense, pour or offer to sell, dispense or pour any distilled 
spirits, alcoholic beverages, wine, beer or malt beverages within the corporate limits of the City of 
Statesboro shall be issued to a new owner or new location until the application has been approved by the 
mayor and city council after a public hearing. 
 
Budget Impact: None 
 
Council Person & District: Phil Boyum, District 1 
 
Attachments: Application & Department Approvals 





















Jay Food Mart
500 E Main St
Statesboro, Ga 30458

Please enter your recommendations and comments with your full name.

Alcohol License Review

Department Full Name    Recommendation                               Comments

Planning &
Development

Elizabeth
Burns

Approve

Fire Department Justin
Taylor

Approved

Police
Department

Jared
Akins

Approved

Legal Cain Smith Approve



 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum 
Paulette Chavers 
Venus Mack 
John C. Riggs 
Shari Barr 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To: Charles Penny, City Manager and Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 
From: Cain Smith, City Attorney 
 
Date: October 24, 2022 
 
RE: November 1, 2022 City Council Agenda Items 
 
Policy Issue: First Reading of proposed amendment to Chapter 2 of the 
Statesboro Code of Ordinances establishing the Statesboro Business 
Commission. 
 
Recommendation: N/A 
 
Background: Mayor and Council voted to move this measure forward to First 
Reading at the October 18, 2022 work session.  
 
Budget Impact: None 
 
Council Person and District: All 
 
Attachments: Proposed ordinance revision 



Ordinance 2022-08: 

An Ordinance Amending Article 2 (Authorities, Boards and Commissions) of Chapter 2 
(Administration) of the Statesboro Code of Ordinances 

WHEREAS, the City has previously adopted ordinances creating certain Authorities, Boards and 
Commissions; and 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council has determined there is sufficient reason and need to 
amend certain sections of Article 2 (Authorities, Boards and Commissions) of Chapter 2 
(Administration) of the Code of Ordinances, City of Statesboro, Georgia to create the Statesboro 
Business Commission 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of 
Statesboro, Georgia, in regular session assembled as follows: 

SECTION 1: 

Article 2 (Authorities, Boards and Commissions) of Chapter 2 (Administration) of the Code of 
Ordinances, City of Statesboro, Georgia is hereby amended to read as follows: 

Sec. 2-85 Establishment; appointment; terms; compensation; removal. 

Sec. 2-86 Chairman; rules of procedure and bylaws; meetings. 

Sec. 2-87 Scope of Authority. 

Sec. 2-85. - Establishment; appointment; terms; compensation; removal. 

There is hereby created a board to be known as the Statesboro Business Commission. The 
Statesboro Business Commission shall consist of seven (7) members who shall be authorized 
representatives of an entity holding an occupational tax certificate with the City of Statesboro. 
The initial term of office of four designated members shall be two years with the initial terms of 
the other three members being one year, beginning on January 1st and ending at the stroke of 
midnight on December 31st. Successor members shall be appointed by the Mayor and City 
Council for a term of two years. Vacancies on the Statesboro Business Commission occurring 
other than by expiration of term shall be filled by an interim appointment for the unexpired term 
by the Mayor and City Council. The Mayor and City Council shall have the authority to remove 
any member of the Statesboro Business Commission by a majority vote for cause, on written 
charges, after a public hearing. All members shall serve without compensation. 

Sec. 2-86. - Chairman; rules of procedure and bylaws; meetings; records. 

a. The Commission shall elect a chairman from among its members who shall serve 
for a term of one year and who shall be eligible for re-election as chairman. 

b. The Commission shall make its own bylaws and rules of procedure and shall 
determine its time and place of meetings. 



c. The transactions of the Commission are governed by the Georgia Open Meetings 
Act O.C.G.A. §§ 50-14-1 et. seq., and it shall be the joint and several responsibility of 
the members to comply with the Georgia Open Meetings Act.  

Sec. 2-87 — Scope of Authority. 

The Commission shall have the authority to prepare studies and reports for the purpose of 
informing the governing body on policy matters related to the impact of local ordinances and 
procedures on business opportunities and operations within the municipal limits of the City of 
Statesboro. 

SECTION 2: All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with this ordinance are hereby 
repealed. 

SECTION 3: This ordinance shall become effective immediately upon its adoption by the City 
Council. 

 
 
                                                                                           ________________________________ 

    Jonathan J McCollar, in his capacity as  
Mayor of Statesboro, Georgia 

 
ATTEST: 

 
                                                                                          _________________________________ 

Leah Harden, in her capacity as City  
Clerk of Statesboro, Georgia 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

















 

 

   CITY OF STATESBORO 

    50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
     STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Venus Mack, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To:  Charles Penny, City Manager 
 Jason Boyles, Assistant City Manager 
 
From: John Washington, Director – Public Works and Engineering 
 
Date: October 25, 2022 
 
RE: Application for Grant Funding for the Creek on the Blue Mile Project 
 
Policy: Application for Governor’s Office of Planning and Budget Improving Neighborhood Outcomes in 
Disproportionally Impacted Communities Funding 
 
Recommendation:  
Staff recommends approval of application to Governor’s Office of Planning and Budget Improving 
Neighborhood Outcomes in Disproportionally Impacted Communities Program for funding support for 
the Creek on the Blue Mile project (COTBM). 
 
Background:  
Governor’s Office of Planning and Budget is receiving applications for grant funding to support Improving 
Neighborhood Outcomes in Disproportionally Impacted Communities by providing an opportunity for 
local governments to invest in neighborhood features, including parks, recreation facilities, sidewalks, and 
healthy food access, that can work to improve physical and mental health outcomes. Allowing people 
access to nature, including parks, has been connected to decreased levels of mortality and illness and 
increased well-being. Grant awards may be made up to up to $ 2,000,000 per project. Development of or 
improvements/maintenance to parks or recreational facilities are eligible in Qualified Census Tracts (QCT) 
in Georgia which a majority of the COTBM project is within the Statesboro QCT. The goal of the Project is 
the development of a linear park along the creek and tributary to provide pedestrian connectivity, create 
economic development opportunities, and promote recreation. 
 
The application deadline is November 18, 2022. The application review period is November 19-December 
19, 2022 with final recommendations and preliminary awards announced in January 2023. 
 
Budget Impact: Match funding is encouraged but not required.  
 
Council Person and District: Paulette Chavers, District 2; Venus Mack, District 3 
 
Attachment:  Grant/Federal Funding Resolution 



RESOLUTION 2022-39: A RESOLUTION APPROVING APPLICATION TO THE 
IMPROVING NEIGHBORHOOD OUTCOMES IN DISPROPORTIONATELY IMPACTED 
COMMUNITIES GRANT PROGRAM FOR THE CREEK ON THE BLUE MILE PROJECT 

 

THAT WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council have found that the Creek on the Blue Mile project 
is a critical stormwater infrastructure project that will reduce flooding and control drainage but 
will also improve the quality of life of citizens and visitors of Statesboro by providing sidewalks 
and recreational opportunities; and, 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council have found that the Governor’s Office of Planning and 
Budget Improving Neighborhood Outcomes in Disproportionally Impacted Communities Funding 
Program is a desirable grant program to support the initiatives of the Creek on the Blue Mile 
project; and, 

WHEREAS, the Governor’s Neighborhood Investment Program requires that the City present a 
project for participation and the City execute the necessary agreement(s) in order to receive 
funding assistance with a minimum project cost of $2,000,000 and no required matching funds; 
and, 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Mayor and City Council of Statesboro, Georgia as 
follows: 

Section 1. The Mayor and City Council hereby authorize the submittal of application 
to Governor’s Office of Planning and Budget Improving Neighborhood 
Outcomes in Disproportionally Impacted Communities Funding Grant 
Application. 

Section 2.  The Mayor is hereby authorized to execute all documents related to the 
application. 

 

      Adopted this 1st day of November, 2022 

      STATESBORO, GEORGIA 

 

      _______________________________ 
      By: Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 

 

      _______________________________ 
      Attest: Leah Harden, City Clerk 























Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

 

 

  
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
To: Steve Hotchkiss 
      Director of Public Utilities 
 
From: Matt Aycock 
           Waste Water Superintendent.  
 
Date: 10-25-22 
    
 
Steve, 
 
On December 16, 2021, US EPA released revisions to the Lead and Copper rule stating 
that all public water systems must provide service line inventories (type of pipe material 
from water main to customer). Water systems were given a 3 year compliance deadline 
to submit Lead Service Line (LSL) inventories and Replacement Plan (deadline of 
October 16, 2024). With the City's 14,000 service connections, this is a huge 
undertaking to complete totally in house. 
 
I was contacted by a representative from 120Water, a sole provider of Lead and Copper 
Compliance program solutions a few months ago. His company spoke at the last 
Georgia Rural Water Association conference about the assistance they offer to comply 
with the new regulations.  120Water is a technical services company that helps state 
agencies, schools, and public water utilities plan, manage, and effectively communicate 
the results of water sampling programs.  120Water is the only organization that 
manages full outsourcing of lead & copper sampling programs today, including out of 
the box, ready to implement technology solutions to support adherence to all of the 
updated Lead and Copper Rule revision requirements. 
 
Keith and I attended a couple of webinars with 120Water. We also spoke with the Utility 
Director in Smyrna, GA (120Water's first Georgia customer) about the advantages of 
using this contract service provider. We truly believe this is the way we need to move 
forward with the new regulations. 

 

 City of Statesboro 
Public Utilities Department  

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 



Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

 

 
Attached you will find: 
1. Proposal from 120Water for services 
2. Scope of Work 
3. Sole Source provider letter from 120Water 
4. List of Georgia municipalities currently using their services 
 
We currently have $40,000 for FY2023 CIP (WWD-193) approved for Lead and Copper 
Study. The proposal amount from 120Water is $17,191 for the first year of services and 
$15,691 for the second year. They need a signature on the proposal to proceed. Thanks 
for your consideration. 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 



City of Statesboro - GA

City Of Statesboro - GA

P.O. Box 348 

50 East Main Street 

Statesboro, GA 30458 

United States 

Matt Aycock

matt.aycock@statesboroga.gov 

9126811161 

Reference: 20221018-104932711

Quote created: October 18, 2022

Quote expires: November 17, 2022

Quote created by: Joe Riitano 

joe@120water.com

Comments from Joe Riitano

Contract start date is at time of signature.

Products & Services

Item Name & Description Unit Price Quantity Term

(months)

Pro - Public Water System $10,960.00 

/ year

1 24

Annual subscription PWS Pro package to manage programs and

data. Unlimited users



Item Name & Description Unit Price Quantity Term

(months)

Professional Services (Assist) $2,500.00 

/ year

3 24

Implementation $1,500.00  1

Subtotals

Annual subtotal $15,691.00

One-time subtotal $1,500.00

Total $17,191.00

Discrete tappable speci�cs under each scope area (block of 20

hours)

Setup, Con�guration and Guided Web Training of the 120Water

Account

after $2,769.00 discount



Purchase terms

Net 30 billing.

Invoice Terms:

Billing Street Address:

Billing City:

Billing State:

Billing Zip Code:

Billing Country:

Billing Notes (if applicable):

This Order Form, together with the Master Services Agreement available

at https://120water.com/master-services-agreement/ (the “MSA”), shall become a legally binding

contract upon the earlier of (a) the date both parties execute the Order Form or (b) the date

Customer initially began using the Services. Any capitalized word not otherwise de�ned in this Order

Form shall have the same meaning as set forth in the MSA.

120Water may reject this Order Form if: (1) the signatory below does not have the authority to bind

Customer to this Order Form, (2) changes have been made to this Order Form (other than

completion of the purchase order information and signature block), or (3) the requested purchase

order information or signature is incomplete or does not match our records or the rest of this Order

Form. Subscriptions are non-cancelable before their end of the Term.

https://120water.com/master-services-agreement/


Signature

Signature Date

Printed name

Countersignature

Countersignature Date

Printed name

Questions? Contact me

Joe Riitano

joe@120water.com

120Water

250 S Elm St

Zionsville, IN 46077

US





LSLI Scope - The City of Statesboro, GA

Phase 1 Goal: Develop a Preliminary Inventory, categorized by customer address, for The City of
Statesboro, GA, with all currently-known SL material information. Available in 120Water Platform
and, if desired (but not currently included), Esri-compatible format (via 120Water Connector for
ArcGIS).

Methodology: There are 6 separate Steps to developing a full LSLI. They are:

1) Program Start and Customer Alignment
2) Data Investigation and Submission
3) Data Analysis
4) Preliminary Findings and Software Alignment
5) Software Import and Training
6) LSLI Verification Strategy

The Scope of this agreement will cover Steps 1-6 of the above Methodology, and the Deliverable
will serve as the baseline for individualized Verification Guidance (that will be the kickoff of Phase
2).

Step 1: Program Start and Customer Alignment (1-2 weeks) | The purpose of this program stage
is for the 120Water and The City of Statesboro, GA   to initiate the lead service line inventory
(LSLI) program and align on program expectations

● Customer Kick-Off Meeting: the 120Water team will host an introductory meeting with the
central The City of Statesboro, GA team to establish the cross-functional Program Team
and confirm roles and responsibilities. The session will also establish the program
approach including success metrics and project timelines, and the cadence of program
reviews, client updates, and any additional The City of Statesboro, GA goals and
expectations

● This meeting will also result in development of an execution strategy to accomplish Steps
2-5. Expectation is that the central The City of Statesboro, GA   staff will assist the
120Water team in identifying and reaching out the proper contacts at the PWS, as well as
providing back-up should 120Water need help in moving these projects along (e.g. getting
responses in a timely manner, etc).

Step 2: Data Investigation and Submission (4-6 weeks) | The purpose of this program stage is
for the 120Water team to identify, review, document, and collaboratively understand the existing
data source(s) and systems.

● Data Investigation Worksheet: The 120Water team will create a Data Guide to be
delivered to each individual PWS identifying potential sources of data the 120Water team
can leverage to build out a preliminary lead service line inventory. Common data sources
include:



○ GIS records
○ Beehive (Asset Management)
○ Billing system records
○ Work order system records
○ Paper reports, tap cards, as-builts, etc.
○ Recent capital projects

● Data Submission: 120Water will review all submitted data sources. Once all data is
submitted, the 120Water team will determine the best analysis approach to bring the data
together into a data set that reflects all service line locations and associated attributes.

○ Esri Partnership Solution: If any The City of Statesboro, GA PWS members wants
the ability to visualize data in ArcGIS Online (AGOL), 120Water will set up a specific
AGOL environment for data submission. 120Water will update the AGOL
environment with preliminary inventory findings and continued inventory updates
from the 120Water platform, as that particular PWS progresses through their lead
service line inventory program. This cost is currently not included in the Quote.

Step 3: Data Analysis (4-8 weeks) | The purpose of this program stage is to combine all
submitted data to develop a preliminary, location-based lead service line inventory that includes
EPA complaint service line material categorizations for all identified service lines. The aim is to
use existing client data to identify locations, and use the data to rule out potential sources of
lead.

● Initiate Analysis: The 120Water data analysis team will conduct a thorough review of the
submitted data, to ensure all data fields are understood and data integrity is maintained.

● Build Records-Based Inventory: The 120Water data analysis team will clean and combine
all appropriate data sources into a service line inventory dataset, broken out by The City
of Statesboro, GA PWS. The final dataset in this stage will include service line locations
and material type categorizations for each identified service line in the distribution
network, as well as all associated location and service line attributes.

● Note: The City of Statesboro, GA   may have records of lead service lines within the
system, The City of Statesboro, GA   may then choose to use a data science driven
selection approach to identify a statistically-driven selection of locations (less than 400
service connections) for physical field verification. 120Water will use the verification
results as the basis for lead service line probability predictions. This approach may require
additional investment from a The City of Statesboro, GA   chosen (or 120Water Service
Partner) field services firm to execute potholing/hydrovacing/home inspections.

Step 4: Preliminary Findings and Software Alignment (2-4 weeks) | The purpose of this
program stage is to deliver the results of the preliminary inventory, and gather any additional
feedback from The City of Statesboro, GA   to support inventory development—both in terms of
reviewing the inventory itself and ensuring the 120Water platform sets The City of Statesboro, GA
up for success in long-term inventory management.

● Preliminary Findings Session: The 120Water team will meet with The City of Statesboro,
GA   to deliver the preliminary inventory findings. The session will cover a discussion of
service line locations, material type associations, the number of service lines the 120Water



team was able to categorize as non-lead, geographic trends, etc.
○ Data Verification: Using the findings the 120Water team will work with the PWS to

determine if additional data is required to inform the inventory.
○ Software Alignment:  During the session, the 120Water team will propose the

methodology for customizing the 120Water platform to meet the PWS needs (e.g.,
customization data fields, location and service line identifiers, prioritization set-up,
etc.).

● Additional Data Incorporation: If the PWS submits additional data to be incorporated into
the lead service line inventory, 120Water will process the data and integrate the new
information into the preliminary inventory.

Step 5: Software Import and Training (2-4 weeks) | The purpose of this program stage is to
introduce The City of Statesboro, GA to its data in the software, and train the PWS team on how
best to leverage the software for continued inventory management.

● Software Configuration: Setup and configure 120Water platform software account and
setup user(s) account(s)

● Inventory Software Import: Import the prepared data (and/or) use PWS’s existing records
into the 120Water software

● Software Training: the 120Water team will train PWS user(s) on 120Water software platform
using the PWS’s data. During this session, the 120Water team and the PWS will discuss
current data systems and processes and provide guidance on leveraging 120Water
platform for long-term LSL management

● AGOL Training (if necessary): the 120Water team will also train a PWS user on use of the
PWS specific 120Water-AGOL environment.

Step 6: Lead Service Line Inventory Verification Strategy (1-2 Weeks) | The purpose of this
program stage is to strategize with The City of Statesboro, GA on how best to proceed with
verifying the material types of service lines that are categorized as Unknown in the lead service
line inventory.

● Establish the Prioritization Team: the 120Water team will meet with the The City of
Statesboro, GA   Compliance Team to determine the key decision-maker who will own the
prioritization and scheduling

● Hold Prioritization and Verification Workshop: The 120Water team and the Prioritization
Team will work through inventory findings, prioritization metrics, geographic
considerations, neighborhood information, and other details to define the method for
organizing ongoing inventory efforts. In addition, both teams will discuss and strategize
verification methods that are best suited to support inventory efforts. Additional 120Water
offerings include:

○ Customer LSLI Postcard or Letter Survey Campaigns
○ Lead Check Swab Kits + Customer LSLI Postcard Survey Campaigns
○ Physical Field Validation Checks
○ Sampling

● Initiate and Continue Inventory Efforts:  The City of Statesboro, GA will continue
leveraging 120Water software to keep the LSLI updated.



120Water
250 S. Elm Street
Zionsville, IN 46077
August 16th, 2022

To Whom It May Concern:

This letter is submitted by request from Statesboro, GA, as confirmation that 120Water is the
sole provider of an end-to-end Lead and Copper Compliance program solution.

The regulatory revisions to the Lead and Copper Rule, finalized in January 2021,  have more
than doubled the efforts required for Statesboro, GA to comply with the updated Lead and
Copper Rule, including increasing sampling requirements, requiring a digitized inventory, and
automated public reporting.

120Water is a technical services company that helps state agencies, schools, and public water
utilities plan, manage, and effectively communicate the results of water sampling programs.
120Water is the only company with a cloud-based technology platform and complementary
services to manage the full life cycle of water testing programs at the point of use. 120Water is
used to run the full lifecycle of drinking water voluntary and compliance programs, including
Lead and Copper Rule, Lead Service Line Inventory, Lead Service Line Replacement, Facilities
Sampling, Pitcher/Filter Distribution, and Wastewater Monitoring across 30 states.

120Water is the only organization that manages full outsourcing of lead & copper sampling
programs today, including out of the box, ready to implement technology solutions to support
adherence to all of the updated Lead and Copper Rule revision requirements.

Sincerely,

Sarah Young
Vice President of Sales
sarah@120water.com



Matt Aycock

Matt Aycock <matt.aycock@statesboroga.gov>

120Water Follow Up 
9 messages

Joe Riitano <joe@120water.com> Wed, Sep 14, 2022 at 4:14 PM
To: Matt Aycock <matt.aycock@statesboroga.gov>

Hi Matt. 

Thanks for giving me a call. Attached is a copy of our Sole Source documentation. Also, below is Bo Jones' contact
information as well as a list of GA customers we are doing Lead and Copper Inventory work for. 

All the best, 

Joe 

Bo Jones
Smyrna, GA
Deputy Director of Public Works 
Phone: Call 678-631-5430  
Email: bjones@smyrnaga.gov 

GA Customers:
Albany, GA
Rome, GA
Smyrna, GA
Coweta County Water Authority 
Barnsville, GA
Tybee Island, GA
Monroe, GA
Spalding County, GA
Griffin, GA
Jesup, GA
Cordele, GA
Wrens, GA
Hartwell, GA
Louisville, GA
Pine Mountain, GA 
McCaysville, GA
Jekyll Island Authority 

--  
Schedule Time with Me Here

Joe Riitano 
Regional Sales Manager | 120Water 
518-361-0838

Statesboro, GA - Sole Source Letter.pdf 
54K

Matt Aycock <matt.aycock@statesboroga.gov> Wed, Sep 14, 2022 at 4:21 PM
To: Steve Hotchkiss <Steve.Hotchkiss@statesboroga.gov>, Keith Perkins <keith.perkins@statesboroga.gov>

[Quoted text
hidden]

mailto:bjones@smyrnaga.gov
https://t.sidekickopen01.com/s3t/c/5/f18dQhb0S7kF8cVQgzW1NSKSm59hl3kW7_k2841CXdp3VQ0w6f56R7GhW2dykcd6SSvBJ101?te=W3R5hFj4cm2zwW3_SMKM3T1k87W1JzCRv4cNDSbW1JxwY51Ly-My4rpCy1&si=8000000006522413&pi=8c5b8e90-8456-4106-ca33-957e51efd5ad
https://t.sidekickopen01.com/s3t/c/5/f18dQhb0S7kF8cVQgzW1NSKSm59hl3kW7_k2841CXdp3VQ0w6f56R7GhW2dykcd6SSvBJ101?te=W3R5hFj4cm2zwW1Q3GGk3zhrPYf1JxwY5V3&si=8000000006522413&pi=8c5b8e90-8456-4106-ca33-957e51efd5ad
https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ui=2&ik=2a6215a415&view=att&th=1833da389a73641d&attid=0.1&disp=attd&realattid=f_l82296c30&safe=1&zw

	11-01-2022 Council Agenda
	10-18-2022 Work Session Minutes
	whiskey business
	whiskey business memo (1)
	doc03145720221026142117
	whiskey business approvals (2)

	Townhome amendment memo
	R-2 Amenity space ordinance redline
	PUD amendment memo
	PUD Mixed Use Req Ordinance
	Jay Food Mart
	jay food mart memo
	jay food mart app
	jay food mart approvals

	Business Commission Memo
	Business Comm ordinance
	Resolution 2022-38 Destruction of Records
	Governor Grant Funding_CC Memo 10-25-2022
	GDOT_Improving Neighborhood Outcomes in Disproportionally Impacted Communities Grant Resolution
	Police Department - surplus
	120Water
	1 - Memo 120 Water
	2 - Quote_(2)City of Statesboro - GA
	3 - City of Statesboro - Scope of Work
	4 - Statesboro, GA - Sole Source Letter
	5 - 120Water_Contracted_Cities (1)

	HiLo Memo.pdf
	Briarwood
	From


